### 11 OCTOBER 2022 KEY DECISION: NO

### RUSHMOOR CULTURAL STRATEGY AND CULTURAL COMPACT

### SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS:

The cultural sector is one of the fastest growing in the economy; creating economic growth and jobs. It makes a major contribution to education, health and social wellbeing, and helps to build communities and social cohesion. Rushmoor has a relatively small and under-developed arts and cultural sector and has been designated by Arts Council England as a 'Priority Place' in need of cultural investment.

Over the last year the council has been working with partners to develop a plan to help grow the cultural and arts sector in the borough. It has been developed in partnership with key delivery partners across the public and private sector through a 'Cultural Compact' (partnership) which will have an ongoing role in shaping cultural activity across the borough.

The Rushmoor Cultural Strategy is not Rushmoor Borough Council's strategy, but the council has played a key enabling role in the development of this document. It will continue to encourage a step change in cultural activity across the borough as a way to achieve its wider social and economic objectives.

The Cabinet is recommended to approve:

1) the Rushmoor Cultural Strategy

### 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Rushmoor Cultural Strategy has been developed in partnership to support a step change in arts, culture and heritage activity in the borough. It provides a framework through which the council will work with partners, notably Hampshire Cultural Trust and Arts Council England (ACE) to promote wider economic, social and environmental outcomes of which culture is a contributory factor.

### 2. BACKGROUND

2.1. Rushmoor is fortunate to have some significant cultural assets, a diverse community and a renowned military and aviation heritage. However, there

is a relatively small, under-developed and fragmented arts scene in the borough with a huge potential to grow.

- 2.2. This relative underperformance is reflected in Rushmoor's status as one of eleven 'Priority Places' in the South West region. These Priority Places, 54 across the UK, are areas where Arts Council England investment and engagement is currently low, and the opportunity for Arts Council England to increase involvement and investment is deemed to be high.
- 2.3. Data shows the need for cultural investment in the borough. Arts Council England's 'Active Lives' research shows that arts engagement, participation and attendance in Rushmoor is 'significantly lower than the national average' and ranks as one of the UK's lowest areas of arts engagement. Figures show that Arts Council England's average annual investment in the borough per head (between 2017/18 and 2019/20) was £1.12, relative to £22.16 in Waverley, £2.23 in Guildford £1.45 in Hart and £3.21 in Basingstoke and Deane. This is one of the lowest figures in the region.
- 2.4. Being designated a 'Priority Place' also reflects opportunities for arts and cultural investment in Rushmoor. These opportunities include a strong digital industry, with leading VR and games companies based locally, an established council-led events programme including Victoria Day and Rushmoor's diverse community which is amongst the most diverse in the sub-region.
- 2.5. Town Centre regeneration is one of Rushmoor Borough Council's priorities. Stimulation of arts and cultural activity is recognised as one of the key means of strengthening/building communities and attracting people into the town centres. The strategy reflects this and therefore supports the Council's ambitions of seeking creative spaces that will enable the delivery of arts and cultural activity in the town centre locations.
- 2.6. The research and strategy recognise the disproportionate strength of digital creative industries in Rushmoor. However if this is to be sustained, relative to competition from other areas, then it is important that the cultural offer and ecology of the Borough is enhanced and grown so it is an attractive place for creative talent to stay and develop. The growth of the freelance creative/artist sector and the attraction/retention of staff are particular priorities.

### 3. DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL

- 3.1. With support from Arts Council England, matched by the council, work on the Cultural Strategy was commissioned in Spring 2021.
- 3.2. The Strategy outlines the following vision:
  - 3.2.1. "Rushmoor is a place with unique culture and heritage. Its vibrant and diverse mix of communities and more youthful population differentiate it from surrounding towns. Rushmoor's cultural strategy celebrates the distinctiveness of Aldershot and Farnborough, the creativity in all

its communities and builds on the creative and technological legacy of its aviation and military heritage to present a distinctive sense of place and opportunity for existing and new residents.

- 3.2.2. It embraces diversity and inclusion, expressed through four pillars of social engagement, cultural engagement and skills development, as a way to create opportunity, build capacity and attract investment in its cultural and creative sector."
- 3.3. The Strategy sets out an overview of the 'cultural ecology' of the borough including details on the consultation undertaken to inform the Strategy and includes data on the scale and significance of the cultural industries in Rushmoor.
- 3.4. A SWOT analysis summarises some of the key characteristics of the cultural sector. This analysis is underpinned by a detailed Baseline Report which is appended to the Strategy.
- 3.5. The Strategy has four main pillars:
  - Social engagement
  - Cultural engagement
  - Skills development
  - Building capacity in the cultural sector.
- 3.6. These cut across six priority actions:
  - 3.6.1. Support Rushmoor's varied communities (especially the least culturally engaged) to express and develop their cultural identity and celebrate these together.
  - 3.6.2. Ensure that culture plays an important role in the regeneration of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres.
  - 3.6.3. Build on Rushmoor's rich aviation and military heritage to both increase community pride and the visitor economy.
  - 3.6.4. Work with artists and the Createch sector to establish Rushmoor as a centre for innovation and excellence in creative media.
  - 3.6.5. Give more young people in Rushmoor the opportunity of developing a sustainable career in the Creative Industries.
  - 3.6.6. Building capacity in Rushmoor's cultural sector.
- 3.7. The action plan is intended to meet the vision and deliver on the six priority actions. This action plan is a live document, subject to change, and will be owned and monitored by the Cultural Compact.

3.8. The Rushmoor Cultural Strategy, and actions in the action plan, support the priorities and activities in *Your Future, Your Place – A vision for Aldershot and Farnborough* and the Council Plan 2022 – 2025

### Consultation

3.9. The Rushmoor Cultural Strategy has been subject to public consultation. A residents' survey attracted 477 responses. A separate survey of arts organisations and freelance creatives was also undertaken. This attracted a further 137 responses. This included national partners engaged in arts and cultural activity in other areas but not currently active in Rushmoor. An analysis of the survey responses has been included in the Baseline Report.

### 4. CULTURAL COMPACT

- 4.1. Arts Council England invited Rushmoor to develop a Cultural Compact (partnership). A Cultural Compact is a partnership intended to help areas make a step change in their strategic governance of culture. Such a partnership seeks to help more people and more places benefit from engaging with cultural opportunities by linking into the ambitions of partner agencies including health, business, universities, the third sector and other partners.
- 4.2. The Cultural Compact in Rushmoor was set up in 2021. It has helped to develop the Cultural Strategy and action plan and will monitor and manage the Strategy going forward.
- 4.3. Rushmoor Borough Council has played a key enabling role on the Cultural Compact as one of several partners. The partnership includes representation from the public and private sectors including Arts Council England, Hampshire County Council, Hampshire Cultural Trust, Grainger, the University of Creative Arts, nDreams, Farnborough College of Technology, Frimley CCG and Enterprise M3 LEP.
- 4.4. The membership and governance of the partnership is likely to evolve over time as the cultural sector develops in the borough and the partnership matures. It could become a properly constituted body with terms of reference and an independent chair.
- 5. **IMPLICATIONS** (of proposed course of action)

### Risks

- 5.1. There are limited risks with regard to the Strategy itself. The actions and interventions set out in the document are not static or isolated, but a programme of activity intended to enhance the cultural life of the borough. Risks associated with specific projects or activity, such as events, will be managed on an individual project basis.
- 5.2. Changes in current financial settlements between government and public sector partners including Arts Council England, Hampshire County Council

and Hampshire Cultural Trust, as well as Rushmoor Borough Council, would impact on the delivery of actions within the document.

### Legal Implications

- 5.3. There are no specific legal implications arising from the Strategy itself however any legal impacts will be considered against any relevant actions in the action plan.
- 5.4. Membership and governance of the Cultural Compact (partnership) may evolve over time. Depending on what is appropriate, and the functions that the Compact will take on (e.g. to apply for funding), the partnership may choose to become a properly constituted body (with the need for an accountable body) and Rushmoor Borough Council's role might change.

### Financial and Resource Implications

- 5.5. The Rushmoor Cultural Strategy will help to inform future funding bids and leverage additional funding from public and private sector partners, including Arts Council England. It has already informed the council's Levelling Up Fund bid. Evidence from the document was also used in a recent application for the South Western Railways Customer and Communities Improvement Fund.
- 5.6. The delivery of the strategy and Compact will be supported by the recruitment of a Cultural Development Manager at Hampshire Cultural Trust. This post is externally funded, with an existing Rushmoor Borough Council grant to Hampshire Cultural Trust being used as match funding.
- 5.7. Rushmoor Borough Council will support event delivery and cultural activity by recruiting an Events and Cultural Apprentice. This post will be funded by the Shared Prosperity Fund (£10,000 per annum for two years), subject to final confirmation of that funding from government.
- 5.8. The apprentice will sit in the Economy and Growth Team and will also release existing capacity in the team to support elements of the strategy and action plan. Rushmoor Borough Council actions, such town centre events and actions which enhance Rushmoor's creative industry cluster, will be managed and monitored by that team working closely with other services where relevant.

### **Equalities Impact Implications**

5.9. The Strategy is intended to engage all Rushmoor's diverse communities and ensure all residents and visitors to the borough can participate in the cultural life of the borough. Equalities impact implications will be considered against any relevant actions in the action plan.

### 6. CONCLUSION

- 6.1. The Strategy celebrates the distinctiveness, diversity and legacy of arts, culture and heritage that exist across people and places in Rushmoor. It proposes new ways of bringing people and organisations together and new investment in places, skills, arts, culture, heritage and creative organisations to bring about a step change in cultural engagement and boost opportunities for employment in fast-growing creative industries.
- 6.2. The Strategy provides a significant opportunity to address the gaps in cultural investment in Rushmoor, reflected in Arts Council England data, whilst also allowing the council to achieve wider social and economic objectives.

### **BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:**

Rushmoor Cultural Strategy and Baseline Report

### CONTACT DETAILS:

### **Report Authors**

Lee McQuade, Economy and Growth Service Manager, <u>lee.mcquade@rushmoor.gov.uk</u>,

Tim Mills, Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing, tim.mills@rushmoor.gov.uk,

### Head of Service

Tim Mills, Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing, <u>tim.mills@rushmoor.gov.uk</u>,

## **APPENDIX 1**

# Rushmoor Cultural Strategy and Cultural Compact



## Contents

Executive summary	3			
Cultural strategy	5			
Pillars of the cultural strategy	5			
Cross-cutting strands	5			
Action plan	6			
Cultural Compact	7			
Vision	9			
1. Cultural ecology				
Residents' views of culture	10			
Arts organisations and freelance creatives	10			
Addressing gaps in the cultural ecology	10			
2. Cultural & Creative Industries	12			
2.1 Scale and significance of Cultural & Creative Industries in Rushmoor	12			
2.2 Creative employment	14			
3. Rushmoor Cultural Strategy	17			
3.1 Pillars of the strategy	17			
3.2 Cross-cutting themes				
4. Rushmoor Cultural Compact	24			
4.1 Focus and promote investment	25			
4.2 Place	26			
4.3 Equality, diversity and inclusion	26			
4.4 Governance	28			
4.5 Business plan	28			
4.6 Cross-cutting actions	30			
Annex 1: alignment with national Government policy	31			
The Levelling Up White Paper	31			
Levelling Up Fund				
The UK Shared Prosperity Fund				
Annex 2: Action plan – Phase 1 (2022-25)	34			

### **Executive summary**

Rushmoor's cultural strategy is informed by the views of its residents and artists and driven by opportunities presented by the diversity and distinctiveness of its places, people and heritage.

Rushmoor has a younger and more diverse population than the rest of Hampshire and surrounding areas. This trend will accelerate in the next decade, driven by inward migration, both from diaspora communities which form part of the area's military legacy and new arrivals from other parts of the UK, drawn by a combination of job opportunities locally, across the M3 Corridor and in London, regeneration of civic, retail and business space and a mix of new and (relatively) low-cost housing.

Both Aldershot and Farnborough boast distinctive cultural and heritage assets which emphasise their military and aviation legacy – including Aldershot Military Museum and the Farnborough Air Sciences Trust Museum (FAST). Farnborough International and the Air Show draw national and international audiences numbered in the tens of thousands. More local events, such as Victoria Day, are well-attended and provide enjoyment to thousands of residents and visitors.

Aldershot and Farnborough's computer games and "Createch" businesses form an important part of the innovation-led, high-wage economy which characterises places across the M3 corridor, offering well-paid jobs in fast-growing digital sectors.

But the benefits of these assets and opportunities are unevenly distributed – places like Cherrywood, Aldershot Park and North Town are amongst the 10% most deprived in England – and levels of engagement with culture are lower than in neighbouring towns; there is a lack of awareness amongst residents about the local cultural offer.

Many residents who do engage with culture think that Aldershot and Farnborough town centres lack scale and distinctiveness, often preferring to travel to London or to nearby towns such as Guildford and Farnham.

More diverse communities report that their lived experience is missing from cultural programming in local venues and at events. This means that all residents are missing out on the varied and vibrant expressions of Nepali and other cultures' art and identity, members of those communities are not accessing employment opportunities in the sector, and the opportunity to appeal to a wider visitor audience is lost.

To address those concerns, the planned regeneration of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres will create new facilities for creative industries and provide more opportunities for families and individuals to enjoy cultural experiences – including a new civic centre in Farnborough combining a leisure centre, library and performance space.

The cultural strategy celebrates the distinctiveness, diversity and legacy of arts, culture and heritage that exist across people and places in Rushmoor. It proposes new ways of bringing people and organisations together and new investment in places, skills, arts, culture, heritage and creative organisations to bring about a step change in cultural engagement and boost opportunities for employment in fastgrowing creative businesses.

## Cultural strategy

The strategy has four main pillars and three cross cutting strands:

## Pillars of the cultural strategy

Table 1 Pillars of Rushmoor's cultural strategy

Social engagement	Celebrating and drawing on the distinctiveness and diversity of communities, heritage and lived experience across Aldershot and Farnborough to define programmes which deliver against wider social and environmental outcomes, the strategy will promote the development of projects engaging with marginalised communities and people from socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds in order to provide equitable cultural participation and a cultural voice for those who are more marginalised.
Cultural engagement	Investing in commissioning, mentoring and audience development to realise culturally diverse content and create a ladder of development opportunity for emergent community-based organisations, whilst linking to regional and national initiatives and activities to raise Rushmoor's profile as a cultural destination for both residents and visitors. This aims to create independent, sustainable cultural organisations with agency to create relevant community-based practice and, in turn, to create an authentic and vibrant home-grown cultural ecology in which amplifies Rushmoor's diverse and distinctive people, places and heritage.
Skills development	Working in partnership with Further and Higher Education to support skills and leadership development, providing new pathways to employment and addressing skills gaps and shortages. This will operate at all levels and in all sectors of the cultural and creative industries but will prioritise creative digital skills development to capitalise on opportunities within Createch. It will build capacity amongst local creative employers, helping to attract new investment and raise economic output and productivity of Aldershot and Farnborough to match and better that of surrounding major towns.
Building capacity in the cultural sector	The Council and its partners will create new permanent positions to support cultural engagement, skills development and event delivery and identify other investment to expand the cultural offer. These posts will have a specific remit to support the development of Rushmoor's cultural ecology, catalysing and engaging with creative and cultural talent, supporting it through an inclusive growth framework to enable sustainable, viable organisations which in turn develop new talent to create a resilient cultural ecology.

## Cross-cutting strands

Figure 1 Cross-cutting strands

Diversity and inclusion	• Using Rushmoor's unique intersectional diversity to create resonant and relevant cultural experiences which engage and reflect the social fabric of the area.
Physical regeneration	• Creating the physical conditions in which culture and creative industries can thrive to help develop a critical mass of creative activity, raise the profile of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres and build Rushmoor's image as a creative place.
The digital journey	<ul> <li>Building on existing strengths of Rushmoor's Createch sector and addressing skills gaps and opportunities to boost jobs growth, productivity, investment and the generation of new creative and commercial IP.</li> </ul>

## Action plan

The findings of extensive research and consultation, including a residents' survey which attracted 477 responses, have been used to inform an action plan which will deliver both on recommendations of the cultural strategy and on the wider social and economic objectives of Rushmoor's Vision 2030.

The strategy sets out **six priority actions** in the short term (2022-25):

Table 2: Priority actions for the cultural strategy

Communities	Support Rushmoor's varied communities (especially the least culturally engaged) to express and develop their cultural identity and celebrate these together.
Town centres	Ensure that culture plays an important role in the regeneration of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres.
Heritage	Build on the rich military and aviation heritage of Aldershot and Farnborough to increase both community pride and the visitor economy.
Creative industries	Work with artists and the Createch sector to establish Rushmoor as a centre for innovation and excellence in creative media.
Young people	Give more young people in Rushmoor the opportunity of developing a sustainable career in the Creative Industries.
Build capacity	Establish new arts team, the Cultural Compact and key partnerships

### Cultural Compact

To secure delivery against these objectives and ensure that the vision and strategy for culture continues to reflect the fast-changing nature of its communities and economy, Rushmoor is putting in place a **Cultural Compact.** A compact is a place-based strategic partnership of local authorities, business, education, cultural and community leaders, tasked with co-designing and delivering a vision for culture and setting out a business plan to deliver measurable progress against local priorities. Rushmoor's Compact will be established by a partnership of Rushmoor Borough Council, Hampshire County Council, Hampshire Cultural Trust (HCT)<sup>1</sup> and Arts Council England.

Membership and governance of the compact will evolve over time to address the changing needs and opportunities of Rushmoor and its diverse communities. Addressing equality, diversity and inclusion as a priority, the Cultural Compact will help focus and promote investment in Rushmoor through:

<sup>1</sup> Hampshire Cultural Trust (HCT) was established as an independent charity in 2014 to promote Hampshire as a county that offers outstanding cultural experiences to both its residents and visitors.

It manages and support 23 attractions across the county, including the West End Centre and Aldershot Military Museum.

It is a National Portfolio Organisation of Arts Council England, with a mission to provide great arts, heritage, museums and creative programming. It works closely with local and national partners, placing communities, its collections and their stories at the heart of its activity.

HCT has been a key partner in the development of the Cultural Strategy and will play an essential convening and commissioning role in Rushmoor's Cultural Compact, including employing a new Cultural Development Manager to help coordinate community engagement and delivery of cultural experiences.

- Tackling spatial and other inequalities
- Engagement with national government and its agencies over strategic development of key initiatives for industry and culture
- Engagement with NHS and other local partners where there are specific opportunities for culture to make a major contribution to the place
- Delivery of programmes funded by government, e.g., Levelling Up Fund, UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Cultural Development Fund
- Taking action to improve the talent pipeline and the local skills base in line with the Creative Industries Sector Deal
- Providing strategic leadership in the long term
- Supporting local innovation
- Exploring and delivering innovations such as those set out in the UK Cultural Cities Enquiry, e.g., city cultural trusts and other asset-based models and corporate social venturing for culture
- Building longer term relationships with sectors that are key to culture, but which are too rarely engaged, e.g., transport providers and public transport authorities
- Building relationships with other places and working with other Compacts to share learning and good practice.

## Vision

Rushmoor is a place with unique culture and heritage. Its vibrant and diverse mix of communities and more youthful population differentiate it from surrounding towns. Rushmoor's cultural strategy celebrates the distinctiveness of Aldershot and Farnborough, the creativity in all its communities and builds on the creative and technological legacy of its aviation and military heritage to present a distinctive sense of place and opportunity for existing and new residents.

It embraces diversity and inclusion, expressed through four pillars of social engagement, cultural engagement and skills development, as a way to create opportunity, build capacity and attract investment in its cultural and creative sector.

The vision for Rushmoor's cultural strategy and cultural compact complements five of the six priorities of Rushmoor Borough Council's vision for 2030 – "Your future, your place":

- Vibrant and distinctive town centres
- Strong communities, proud of our area
- Healthy and green lifestyles
- A growing local economy kind to the environment
- Opportunities for everyone quality education and a skilled local workforce

## 1. Cultural ecology

## Residents' views of culture

A residents' survey carried out late in 2021 attracted 477 responses. The respondents were mainly white and mainly female; most were between 25 and 65-years-old, two-thirds lived in Farnborough and one-third in Aldershot.

The results identified a "core" audience with a traditional understanding of arts and culture, an appetite for cultural activity across most genres and appreciation of the importance of arts and culture and its contribution to individuals, place making and quality of life. The cultural strategy will meet a need and an interest amongst this audience.

## Arts organisations and freelance creatives

We also carried out a survey of arts organisations and freelance creatives, which attracted 137 responses. This identified significant gaps in the local cultural ecology.

The poor cultural image of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres, combined with a smaller pool of freelance workers than found in comparable places, make it harder for local employers to recruit people with creative and software skills, where they are in competition with London and other regional hubs. Those skills gaps and shortages make it harder in turn to attract new investment, further constraining opportunities for economic growth.

## Addressing gaps in the cultural ecology

Insights framed by residents' and artists' surveys, wider consultation, through "World Cafes" events, interviews, and the lived experiences of those we spoke to suggest that alongside a "traditional" view of culture there is:

- Significant underrepresentation of people with protected characteristics within audiences and at all levels of the creative and cultural sector workforce
- Disproportionate under-employment and self-employment across minority ethnic communities, LGBTQI+ people and people with disability
- and that this intersects with socio-economic background, age and gender.

To achieve a state of equality and parity it was clear from our feedback that intervention was needed to achieve greater social engagement through culture and deliver more equitable outcomes for all Rushmoor's residents. This needs to be catalysed by investment and capacity building of arts organisation and individual creative skills and practice highlighted in the action plan; but it also requires rethinking the relationship between Aldershot, Farnborough and surrounding towns to bring out their distinctiveness and complementarity between their offers, rather than looking to duplicate offers either within Rushmoor or in the surrounding area.

## 2. Cultural & Creative Industries

## 2.1 Scale and significance of Cultural & Creative Industries in Rushmoor

Rushmoor's cultural and creative industries sector (CCI) is made up of 560 firms and some 5,400 employees. It is dominated by IT, computer services and software and, along with Guildford, forms part of a nationally significant cluster of games businesses.





The Fifth Sector analysis of Beauhurst data, April 2022 (figures rounded to prevent disclosure)

### Table 4 SWOT analysis of Rushmoor's Cultural & Creative Industries

Strengths	Opportunities
Strengths Createch sector – in particular, video games companies which form part of a nationally significant cluster stretching from Aldershot to Guildford Lower cost accommodation than surrounding areas Good connectivity to London and to employment hubs along the M3 corridor Strong Further Education offer Younger and more diverse demographic than neighbouring towns	Opportunities Engage diverse communities across Aldershot, Farnborough and North Camp to create more opportunities for jobs and to attract a new audience from a wider demographic and geographical catchment Increase in demand for film, television and short- form content complements existing strengths in digital content Town centre developments of creative workspace and showrooms and student accommodation bring critical mass to Aldershot Plans for new civic leisure and cultural hub and library anchor redevelopment of Farnborough town centre UCA plans to focus on digital creative courses at its Farnham campus could increase the pipeline of skilled talent to Rushmoor employers
WeaknessesSparse cultural sector and low levels of audience and community engagement with current offer means little incentive for mid-career producers to locate in the boroughSmall pool of freelance talent makes it hard for local businesses to recruit and retain skilled staff, leading to skills gaps and shortagesLack of consideration of diversity (lived experience) within current cultural commissioningAldershot and Farnborough town centres lack scale and identityAreas of multiple deprivation close to centres of employment mean that some individuals and	Threats Skills gaps and shortages (especially in key digital skills) deter potential investors, exacerbating outward migration of talent The physical representations of Rushmoor's military and aviation heritage require ongoing investment and maintenance

### Film, television and short-form content

Recent growth in demand for original film and high-end television content, driven by streaming providers such as Netflix, has created investment in the whole production and production services supply chain. Rushmoor has seen some benefits, including the construction of temporary sound stages at Farnborough International. Netflix's decision to make its UK base at nearby Longcross means that there is a much greater short-term opportunity to attract production services providers to take advantage of Rushmoor's strategic location and comparatively low costs.

In the medium to long term, encouraging the development of original content – including short form content for platforms such as Instagram and Tik Tok – presents the

opportunity to attract investment from production companies and to grow an indigenous production sector in Rushmoor. Public sector broadcasters are charged with increasing diversity amongst those in front of and behind the camera; this is an opportunity to work with colleges, universities and private sector training providers to attract more of Rushmoor's younger and more diverse demographic toward high value employment opportunities in this sector.

### Creative and digital skills

The creative and digital skills pathways that will be established in the process will better enable cross-sector innovation and supply chain development with Rushmoor's other key added value sectors in aerospace, defence, digital security and logistics.

### 2.2 Creative employment

The Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) shows the significance of the IT, software & computer services sector (a combination of digital and creative companies which come together under the banner of "Createch") within Rushmoor's creative industries, which account for over 4,400 of a total 5,400 jobs.

Growth in creative industries employment in Rushmoor between 2015 and 2020 was only 280 jobs, or 8% - far below national and regional averages, with even the Createch sector (which includes games) being practically static. Further research established that Rushmoor has a smaller freelance creative workforce than we find in other parts of England. Analysis of profiles of individuals on LinkedIn identifying themselves as located in Rushmoor and within the creative industries suggests that the current creative workforce numbers 5,790, of whom 4,200 are in employment (full-time, part-time, contract or internship), with the remainder in freelance or contracting roles.

LinkedIn typically identifies a creative workforce between two and five times *larger* than the record of employment in BRES, reflecting the high levels of freelance and selfemployment typically found across creative industries. However, in Rushmoor freelancers represent only 28% of the creative workforce identified through LinkedIn - we would normally expect the ratio to be at least 1:1. This is supported by findings from our survey of creative practitioners and organisations working in Rushmoor: the 27 organisations which provided employment data reported a total of 487 full and part-time staff and only 64 freelance workers





Source: The Fifth Sector analysis of BRES (2020), 2022

#### Impact of Covid-19

BRES 2020 data show a fall of 225 jobs from 2019, reflecting the impact of Covid on employment in some creative sectors – most obviously, advertising and marketing, where employment fell from 165 to 85 (Figure 2:).

However, in contrast to the national picture, where around two-thirds of freelance workers were unemployed through the pandemic, employment in music, performing and visual arts rose from 30 to 80. This may reflect freelance individuals seeking greater security in permanent employment or registering as businesses in the hope of securing other kinds of emergency relief but will need a longer time frame to see if this represents a lasting shift in employment patterns.

### Conclusions

Rushmoor has lower than average levels of freelance working in cultural and creative industries.

The small population of freelance creatives represents a lack of capacity in the creative workforce, reflected in the skills gaps and shortages reported by creative employers, and is a constraining factor on sector growth.

## 3. Rushmoor Cultural Strategy

Rushmoor's cultural strategy builds on and accelerates a process of culture-led regeneration already set in train by the planned redevelopment of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres.

The cultural strategy aligns with wider government policy around "levelling up" (Table 5) to ensure that Rushmoor is best positioned to take advantage of other opportunities to invest in wider social, economic and environmental outcomes in which culture is a contributory factor.

### 3.1 Pillars of the strategy

The strategy has four pillars:

- Social engagement: drawing on the distinctiveness and diversity of Rushmoor's communities, heritage and lived experience to define programmes linked to "levelling up" which deliver against wider social and environmental outcomes. This priority focuses on actions which use Rushmoor's unique intersectional diversity (which spans ethnicity, gender, disability, faith and sexuality, complemented by the intersectional diversity within its military heritage) as a springboard to create resonant and relevant cultural experiences which engage and reflect the social fabric of the area.
- **Cultural engagement**: capacity building arts organisations through commissioning, mentoring and an audience development strategy based on diversity and inclusion to realise culturally diverse content and create a ladder of development opportunity for emergent community-based organisations, whilst linking to regional national initiatives and activities to raise Rushmoor's profile as a cultural destination.
- **Skills development**: working in partnership with FE and HE, the strategy will support skills and leadership development across the cultural and creative industries and at all levels to address skills gaps and shortages, build capacity and fill gaps in the cultural ecology and increase diversity and inclusion at all levels of the creative workforce producers and cultural leaders, as well as new entrants. It will emphasise creative digital skills development to capitalise on opportunities within Createch.
- **Building capacity in Rushmoor's cultural sector**: establishing permanent positions to support engagement, skills development and event delivery and identifying investment to expand the cultural offer.

## 3.2 Cross-cutting themes

There are three threads which run though all four pillars:

- Equality, diversity and inclusion: identifying and acknowledging the distinct lived experience of all Rushmoor's diverse communities to address gaps in cultural provision, skills, talent development, sector capacity and productivity and putting in place the investment, mentoring and training to enable all Rushmoor's residents to project their cultural identity and to participate at all levels of the creative workforce.
- **Physical regeneration**: creating the physical conditions in which culture and creative industries can thrive, through town centre redevelopment, provision of new cultural facilities, creative workspace, showrooms, galleries and student accommodation to help develop a critical mass of creative activity, raise the profile of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres and build Rushmoor's image as a creative place.
- **The digital journey**: building on existing strengths of Rushmoor's Createch sector and addressing skills gaps and opportunities to boost jobs growth, productivity, investment and the generation of new creative and commercial IP.

## Social engagement

Rushmoor's cultural strategy will draw on the distinctiveness and diversity of Rushmoor's communities, heritage and lived experience to define programmes linked to "levelling up" which deliver against wider social and environmental outcomes.

Using Rushmoor's unique intersectional diversity (which spans ethnicity, gender, disability, faith and sexuality, complemented by the intersectional diversity within its military heritage) as a springboard to create resonant and relevant cultural experiences which engage and reflect the social fabric of the area.

The strategy will promote the development of projects, engaging with marginalised communities from socio-economically disadvantage backgrounds, in order to provide equitable cultural participation and a cultural voice for those who are more marginalised.

Table 5 Cultural strategy alignment with Levelling Up

### Levelling up

Rushmoor's Cultural Strategy aligns with wider Government policy around "levelling up".

### Levelling Up White Paper

The Cultural Strategy contributes to three of the Government's 12 Levelling Up Missions:

Mission 1. By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of the UK.

**Mission 6.** By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people completing courses in the lowest skilled areas.

**Mission 9.** By 2030, pride in place, such as people's satisfaction with their town centre and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas closing.

### UK Shared Prosperity Fund

The £2.6bn fund (a mixture of revenue and capital funding) has three investment priorities, all of which all align closely to cultural and creative industry (CCI) development drivers:

- Communities and place
- Support for local businesses
- People and skills.

Other programmes with potential to fund culture, arts, heritage and creative industries include:

- Cultural Development Fund
- Towns Fund
- UK Community Ownership Fund
- Plan for Jobs
- High Street Heritage Action Zones

## Cultural engagement

Evidence from mapping, surveys and consultation with cultural practitioners and businesses suggests that Rushmoor is lacking in some important aspects of a sustainable cultural ecology, in particular:

- **Connectors**, who make things happen and bring together other parts of the system, such as producers, entrepreneurs, freelance workforce, artists, artist collectives, commissioners, and funders.
- **Nomads**, individuals who participate in and provide an audience for culture but may also combine that with roles as artist and technicians.

The strategy therefore prioritises capacity building arts organisations through commissioning, mentoring and an audience development strategy based on diversity and inclusion to realise culturally diverse content and create a ladder of development opportunity for emergent community-based organisations, whilst linking to regional/ national initiatives and activities to raise Rushmoor's profile as a cultural destination. This aims to create independent, sustainable cultural organisations with agency to create relevant community-based practice and, in turn, to create an authentic and vibrant home-grown cultural ecology in Rushmoor.

With Hampshire Cultural Trust in the lead, this priority may draw capacity from and support investment in cultural organisations based outside Rushmoor with specialist knowledge and an established track record, including Nutkhut, Stopgap Dance, Kala the Arts and Artswork. It also entails building stronger links to national networks, initiatives and activities to raise Rushmoor's profile, as well as connecting into regional activity:

- Regional networks such as the creative visual arts network, Visual Arts South West.
- National organisations with a widening participation agenda, such as the national Saturday Morning Art Club (SMAC), which is prioritising developing clubs in ACE's priority places and Levelling Up for Culture places. SMAC has a widening participation agenda and 72% of attendees are now from protected characteristic and low socio-economic backgrounds. Its model is to develop a club with Further and Higher Education providers, who also then co-fund activity.

The Cultural Compact needs to be proactive about seeking out those opportunities to connect. Programme delivery should address:

- Marginalised and diverse communities (using core and external funding) to ensure the cultural offer is relevant, reflective, and responsive to local need.
- Developing further community orientated, responsive programming as a significant part of the operation and programming of the West End Centre, Aldershot Military Museum and other cultural venues as well the council's events programme.
- Support for local and regional cultural networks, facilitating the sharing of best practice between Hampshire priority places (including Isle of Wight and Havant as well as Rushmoor, New Forest and Gosport) and making learnings available to broader sector partners.
- Supporting museums and local heritage assets to build local and regional audiences through short- and medium-term intervention.

### Delivery of new cultural activity

The strategy will support delivery of accessible cross-sector training to support local cultural and community organisations to deliver cultural activity and to upskill creative practitioners. RBC and HCT will seek to identify additional resource to partner with organisations already involved in delivery of cultural activity in Rushmoor (including Nutkhut, Stopgap, Kala The Arts, local community organisations and others) on outdoor celebratory events for a wide audience e.g., a Mela.

Rushmoor Borough Council and partners will look to identify additional resource to commission a new biannual Arts Festival, commencing in 2024.

### Skills development

Rushmoor's relatively younger demographic means that a higher-than-average proportion of its population is of working age. This in turn means that skills development, training, leadership development and sustainability of careers across cultural and creative disciplines are vital to the sustainability and growth of the sector in the area.

Rushmoor already boasts an excellent Further Education offer. Farnborough has both an outstanding **Sixth Form College** and a **College of Technology** with an associated University Centre and Aerospace Research and Innovation Centre. The range of courses on offer at these institutions is wide, and incorporates A and T levels, Apprenticeships, BTECs, Degrees, Professional, Technical and Vocational training across a wide range of subject areas, including gaming, drones, robotics, STEM subjects, and eSports, performing arts and design.

The Higher Education offer will be boosted by changes to the curriculum of the **UCA campus in Farnham** to focus on digital content and to introduce a year out in industry (either as an employee or freelance practitioner) as part of every student's experience. This will build demand for student accommodation, creative workspace and showrooms which form part of the redevelopment of Union Yard in Aldershot and will be available from 2024. Working in partnership with FE and HE, the strategy will support skills and leadership development across the cultural and creative industries and at all levels but will prioritise creative digital skills development to capitalise on opportunities within Createch.

Across all creative sectors, the challenge for Rushmoor is to ensure that skills development opportunities are made accessible and promoted to people with protected characteristics, including those from lower socio-economic backgrounds. Making diversity and inclusion a key focus of creative skills development is essential to ensure the vibrancy, resilience and agility of the sector and to harness culture as an opportunity for economic growth by expanding the creative workforce. This will:

- Address skills gaps and shortages.
- Build capacity and fill gaps in the cultural ecology.
- Increase diversity and inclusion at all levels of the creative workforce producers and cultural leaders, as well as new entrants.

As part of diversifying provision, Hampshire Cultural Trust plans to run a grassroots music development programme at West End Centre, supporting young people to find routes into the industry and building new programming and audiences for grassroots music in Aldershot and the surrounding area.

## Building capacity in Rushmoor's cultural sector

The strategy has provided new impetus to identify resource to build capacity within Rushmoor's cultural sector and in the delivery of cultural events. As part of this, RBC, Hampshire Cultural Trust and Arts Council England are collaborating to identify resource for some cross-cutting actions:

- Build a Rushmoor arts team, including employing a Cultural Development Manager (which sits within HCT) to develop relationships, build strategic partnerships, and attract and support partner organisations to develop and deliver new projects towards a coherent and diverse local cultural offer.
- HCT will employ a part time Creative Producer to deliver pilot projects and work with Rushmoor Borough Council to develop a biannual arts festival.
- HCT will employ an audience development position to work at the grassroots, linking local communities and existing local cultural provision.
- RBC will employ an Events and Culture Apprentice to support the delivery of events and arts projects across the two town centres.

The development of creative workspaces, art showcases and student accommodation at Union Yard in Aldershot, and the regeneration of Farnborough town centre around a leisure and cultural hub, will lend a more distinctly creative identity to the town centres. Making the town centres more attractive will:

- Encourage more residents to attend cultural events in the local area and reduce 'leakage' of footfall and income to nearby towns and cities, and to London.
- Increase the attractiveness of Aldershot and Farnborough to current and potential employees and employers.
- Provide job opportunities for new residents drawn in by the large housing developments underway.
- Help address skills gaps and shortages to build capacity amongst local creative employers to attract new investment and raise Rushmoor's economic output and productivity to match and better that of surrounding major towns.

## 4. Rushmoor Cultural Compact

### Background to Cultural Compacts

Cultural Compacts formed one of the key recommendations from the Cultural Cities Enquiry (2019), led by the Core Cities group in partnership with the Arts Councils of England, Wales and Northern Ireland and Creative Scotland. A compact is a strategic partnership of local authorities, business, education, cultural and community leaders, tasked with codesigning and delivering a vision for culture and setting out a business plan to deliver measurable progress against local priorities.

From the Cultural Cities enquiry report (2019):

"Effective Compacts will have a close relationship to other local delivery bodies and strategies, including Local Economic Partnerships (LEPs), or equivalent planning partnerships, to agree the cultural component of a Local Industrial Strategy, a health and wellbeing strategy, or spatial and economic plans, and be the go-to body for discussion with national governments.

"Each Compact must have a business plan, with clear and measurable aims, and publish a report on progress annually."

### Arts Council England Priority Places

Rushmoor is identified by Arts Council England (ACE) as a "priority place", based on its low levels of cultural engagement and lower than average levels of investment in culture. ACE support for development of a compact is one measure designed to address these shortfalls.

The ambition for a cultural compact also reflects wider government "levelling up" agendas:

"The UK Government wants to encourage private sector-led partnerships across the UK, especially when these coincide with existing or potential new clusters of business activity. These initiatives should ideally seek to coordinate action not just across the private sector, but in partnership with local and central government, and local education and research institutions."

Levelling Up White Paper

## 4.1 Focus and promote investment

The Cultural Compact will help **focus and promote investment** in Rushmoor through:

- 1. Tackling spatial and other inequalities;
- 2. Engagement with national government and its agencies over strategic development of key initiatives for industry and culture;
- 3. Engagement with NHS and other local partners where there are specific opportunities for culture to make a major contribution to the place;
- 4. Delivery of programmes funded by government, e.g., Levelling Up Fund, UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Cultural Development Fund;
- 5. Taking action to improve the talent pipeline and the local skills base in line with the Creative Industries Sector Deal;
- 6. Providing strategic leadership in the long term;
- 7. Supporting local innovation;
- Exploring and delivering innovations such as those set out in the UK Cultural Cities Enquiry, e.g., city cultural trusts and other asset-based models and corporate social venturing for culture;
- 9. Building longer term relationships with sectors that are key to culture, but which are too rarely engaged, e.g., transport providers and public transport authorities;
- 10. Building relationships with other places and working with other Compacts to share learning and good practice.

### 4.2 Place

The Arts Council's prospectus for Cultural Compacts makes it clear that,

"A compact is not a one-size-fits-all model."

Compacts exist to co-create and co-deliver a holistic vision for all the factors which support cultural production and consumption in a place. Their vision must be one in which the Compact is part of a **step change** in the sustainability and contribution of culture to the life of that place. It must link the cultural sector to broader aspirations and priorities for that place, and secure the partnerships across the cultural sector, and with other sectors necessary to realise that.

Rushmoor has taken a **place-based approach** to the development of its Cultural Compact, building on both engagement around development of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres and evidence from cultural strategy research. The combined findings have emphasised how a compact can build on specific elements of "culture in place" to deliver both on recommendations of the cultural strategy and on the wider social and economic objectives of Rushmoor's Vision 2030.

Rushmoor's strategy complements work on a Cultural Compact in Gosport and a new Creative People and Places partnership in the New Forest, and wider collaboration with priority places across Hampshire including the Isle of Wight and Havant. It has contributed to an increased county-wide focus and collaboration on the importance of culture. The Cultural Compact will enable Rushmoor to better engage with national partners, including government and its agencies, in the furtherance of local ambitions, and also internationally where appropriate.

### 4.3 Equality, diversity and inclusion

A Compact is about step change. Its membership must reflect the ambition of its vision, the commitment of the cultural sector to that vision, and the necessary connection to other sectors through the inclusion of those sectors in compact membership.

Principles of equality and diversity are fundamental. Through consultation, we have sought to ensure that views of all citizens and communities are at the heart of the compact.

At the core of the Compact must be a membership that reflects the breadth and potential of the cultural sector in that place, but membership must not be limited to the cultural sector: there must be connection to those organisations and sectors beyond the cultural that have a direct interest in the ambition of the Compact, including public agencies, LEPs, Chambers of Commerce, destination management organisations and the third sector.

## 4.4 Governance

Governance of a Cultural Compact must demonstrate connection to local leadership, primarily through the full support and effective engagement of the local authority. In this case, Rushmoor's Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive will lead an interim board which also includes representatives of Hampshire County Council, Hampshire Cultural Trust and Arts Council England. This board will:

- Draw up a vision
- Agree the purpose of the compact
- Outline business plans, membership and partnerships
- Set in train a three-year programme of work
- Look to identify operational capacity (which may involve collaborating in recruitment of new posts)
- Draw up terms of reference and person specifications for new board members
- Undertake recruitment for board members in a transparent way, helping capacity build new leadership as it goes.

Membership and governance of the Compact may evolve over time. As it moves forward, the Compact may determine new leadership requirements and seek an independent chair with no direct role in the cultural sector or local authority. Depending on what is appropriate, and the functions that the compact will take on (e.g., to apply for funding, employ staff or delivery activity directly) the Compact may choose to become a properly constituted body.

### 4.5 Business plan

Compacts are about change, and the business plan for Rushmoor's Cultural Compact identifies six priorities to bring about change in ways that are appropriate to the place and to the ambitions of its people and communities, identified through consultation.

The compact steering group has drafted a three-year action plan (Annex 2: Action plan – Phase 1 (2022-25)) to address **six priority action areas**:

- 1. Support Rushmoor's varied communities (especially the least culturally engaged) to express and develop their cultural identity and celebrate these together.
- 2. Ensure that culture plays an important role in the regeneration of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres.
- 3. Build on Rushmoor's rich aviation and military heritage to both increase community pride and the visitor economy.
- 4. Work with artists and the Createch sector to establish Rushmoor as a centre for innovation and excellence in creative media.
- 5. Give more young people in Rushmoor the opportunity of developing a sustainable career in the Creative Industries.
- 6. Building capacity in Rushmoor's cultural sector.
## 4.6 Cross-cutting actions

The business plan also identifies three cross-cutting actions (see below) to build capacity in design, delivery and promotion of cultural activity in Rushmoor:

|--|

Establish new arts team, the Cultural Compact and key partnerships Establish workplans	Establish new arts and culture team. Build and develop Cultural Compact Board.
	Establish core group of arts and other organisations to support delivery of strategy and action plan.
Promotion of activities within the borough	Research methods for wide-scale promotion of cultural activities within the borough. This could include filming and venue hire, alongside promotion of tourist attractions, events and arts activities (and potentially green spaces).
Identify and secure new income streams to deliver priorities	Identify and apply for funding to deliver action plan. Research and pursue potential commercial income streams to sustain activity.

## Annex 1: alignment with national Government policy

### The Levelling Up White Paper

The Cultural Strategy aligns closely to Government ambitions set out in the Levelling Up White Paper, contributing to three of the Government's 12 Levelling Up Missions:

*Mission 1.* By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of the UK.

*Mission 6.* By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people completing courses in the lowest skilled areas.

*Mission 9.* By 2030, pride in place, such as people's satisfaction with their town centre and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas closing.

### Levelling Up Fund

There is a total fund of £4.8bn available until 2024/25. Applications for the second (and potentially final round) opened on 31 May 2022 and close on 6th July 2022. The Levelling Up Fund is a competitive fund, with funding distributed to places across the UK on the basis of successful project selection.

Funding will be targeted towards places in England, Scotland, and Wales that are most in need of the type of investment the Fund provides, as measured by an <u>Index of Priority</u> <u>Places</u>. There are three investment themes:

- Transport
- Regeneration
- Town Centre and Cultural investment

The Fund focuses investment on smaller scale, local projects that require less than £20 million of funding. But DLUHC is prepared to fund up to two large bids for up to £50 million under the Fund's culture and heritage investment theme.

### The UK Shared Prosperity Fund

Summary: The submission window for investment plans is the 30 June 2022 to 1 August 2022 for the funding period April 2022 to March 2025. The £2.6bn fund (a mixture of revenue and capital funding) has three investment priorities, all of which all align closely to cultural and creative industry (CCI) development drivers:

- Communities and place
- Support for local businesses
- People and skills.

# Investment Priority One: Communities and place

Strengthening our social fabric and fostering a sense of local pride and belonging, through investment in activities that enhance physical, cultural and social ties and amenities, such as community infrastructure and local green space, and community-led projects.

CCI relevant underpinning interventions

- E4: Enhanced support for existing cultural, historic and heritage institutions that make up the local cultural heritage offer.
- E6: Support for local arts, cultural, heritage and creative activities.

# Investment Priority Two: Supporting local businesses.

CCI fits into all three objectives under this strand:

 Creating jobs and boosting community cohesion, through investments that build on existing industries and institutions, and range from support for starting businesses to visible improvements to local retail, hospitality and leisure sector facilities.

- Promoting networking and collaboration, through interventions that bring together businesses and partners within and across sectors to share knowledge, expertise and resources, and stimulate innovation and growth.
- Increasing private sector investment in growth-enhancing activities, through targeted support for small and mediumsized businesses to undertake new-tofirm innovation, adopt productivityenhancing, energy efficient and low carbon technologies and techniques, and start or grow their exports.

#### CCI relevant underpinning interventions

- E18: Supporting Made Smarter Adoption: Providing tailored expert advice, matched grants and leadership training to enable manufacturing SMEs to adopt industrial digital technology solutions including artificial intelligence; robotics and autonomous systems; additive manufacturing; industrial internet of things; virtual reality; data analytics. The support is proven to leverage high levels of private investment into technologies that drive growth, productivity, efficiency and resilience in manufacturing.
- E19: Increasing investment in research and development at the local level. Investment to support the diffusion of innovation knowledge and activities. Support the commercialisation of ideas, encouraging collaboration and accelerating the path to market so that more ideas translate into industrial and commercial practices.

- E20: Research and development grants supporting the development of innovative products and services.
- E21: Funding for the development and support of appropriate innovation infrastructure at the local level.
- E22: Investing in enterprise infrastructure and employment/innovation site development projects. This can help to unlock site development projects which will support growth in places.
- E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems and supporting businesses at all stages of their development to start, sustain, grow and innovate, including through local networks.
- E24: Funding for new and improvements to existing training hubs, business support offers, 'incubators' and 'accelerators' for local enterprise (including social enterprise) which can support entrepreneurs and start-ups through the early stages of development and growth by offering a combination of services including account management, advice, resources, training, coaching, mentorship and access to workspace.

E27: Funding to develop angel investor networks nationwide.

E28: Export Grants to support businesses to grow their overseas trading, supporting local employment.

#### Investment Priority Three: People and Skills

#### **Relevant Objective**

Supporting local areas to fund gaps in local skills provision to support people to progress in work, and supplement local adult skills provision e.g., by providing additional volumes; delivering provision through wider range of routes or enabling more intensive/innovative provision, both qualification based and non-qualification based. This should be supplementary to provision available through national employment and skills programmes.

CCI-relevant underpinning interventions

E38: Support for local areas to fund local skills needs. This includes technical and vocational qualifications and courses up to level 2 and training for vocational licences relevant to local area needs and high-value qualifications where there is a need for additional skills capacity that is not being met through other provision.

#### Other programmes

Other programmes with potential to fund culture, arts, heritage and creative industries include:

- Cultural Development Fund
- Towns Fund
- UK Community Ownership Fund
- Plan for Jobs
- High Street Heritage Action Zones.

## Annex 2: Action plan – Phase 1 (2022-25)

PRIORITY 1 - Support Rushmoor's varied communities (especially the least culturally engaged) to express and develop their cultural identity and celebrate these together.

Activity (Phase 1)	ACE Let's Create	Rushmoor 2030	Outcomes
Ensure arts and cultural programming and provision reflects old, new and potential future communities, creating a sense of community for those who are moving into the area, and not leaving behind existing residents. Aldershot and Farnborough libraries will act as high-profile centres for a variety of cultural activities, events and cultural bridges between those communities. The Library Service will also seek to engage young children and new families in cultural activity and provide opportunities for creative play and learning. Project(s) using performing arts, sport and outdoor activity to address disability, isolation and mental health issues, and physical wellbeing. Crafts project to address domestic life, linking experience of white, Nepali, other Asian and Black people (especially women). Engage areas of multiple deprivation in Rushmoor (Cherrywood, Aldershot Park, North Town).	<b>Investment Principles:</b> Ambition & Quality Inclusivity and relevance	Strong communities, proud of our area Healthy and green lifestyles	<ul> <li>Development and demonstration of community engagement for CPP bid (apply 2024, launch 2025)</li> <li>Use of green space</li> <li>(Audience development)</li> </ul>

<ul> <li>PROJECT 1.2 (cross cutting)</li> <li>Develop creative producer and mentoring programme, leading into new community projects and an arts festival.</li> <li>HCT will <ul> <li>Employ a part time creative producer</li> <li>Include producer training in our creative practitioner training programme</li> <li>Lead on creative producer programme (if commissioned)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	HCT – lead RBC Arts team	Launch late 2022	HCT NPO
<ul> <li>PROJECT 1.3</li> <li>Develop proposals to create and commission public art and cultural activity to attract visitors to green spaces, outside of town centres (enhancing wellbeing and encouraging healthy lifestyles).</li> <li>Invite proposals for projects in this space from varied partners</li> <li>HCT has been running ticketed outdoor theatre and workshops for the past three years and plans to increase these (core activity)</li> <li>HCT is also interested in supporting Nutkhut and others on a Mela or similar gathering with wide community appeal</li> <li>RBC continue to deliver and develop projects through the Community and Economy and Growth teams.</li> </ul>	RBC HCT (core activity) Arts team NHS	Research 2022 Deliver 2023	HCT (via core income and HCT's RBC grant)
<b>PROJECT 1.4 (cross cutting)</b> Lay groundwork for Arts Festival in 2023. Secure funding and team. Deliver borough-wide Arts Festival (every 2 years).	HCT RBC Arts team	Launch late 2022 Deliver late 2023	HCT NPO Other?

HCT's CDM (from 2022) and part time creative producer role from 2023 will lead on development (delivery and the commissioning of artworks would be commissioned).			
<b>PROJECT 1.5 (cross cutting)</b> Promote (unusual) spaces and other venues to event producers, artists etc, stimulating arts activity at every scale.	RBC Arts team	Late 2022	
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Develop artistic programming and activities at existing venues, such as Princes Hall, to engage the community.	RBC Arts team		
<ul> <li>INFRASTRUCTURE</li> <li>Support future development of libraries:</li> <li>Aldershot – develop as a community hub, providing a focal point for community and cultural activity.</li> <li>Farnborough – explore potential for an integrated library/community/cultural offer including viability of indoor performance venue and operating model within Civic Quarter</li> </ul>	RBC HCC HCT (if commissioned)		
<b>RELATIONSHIPS (cross cutting)</b> Develop relationships and attract partner organisations to deliver projects (ACE, NPOs, private sector, community) in the borough, engaging Rushmoor's diverse communities. Partner organisations to include Nutkhut, Stopgap, Artswork and Kala the Arts.	HCT – lead Arts team	Ongoing	HCT ACE (year 1) HCT NPO (year 2-4)
HCT's Community Development Manager would lead on this and ensure a coherent and strategic local offer.			
RELATIONSHIPS (cross-cutting)			

HCT will support wider local cultural networks, facilitating the sharing of	RBC	Ongoing	HCT NPO
best practice between Hampshire Priority Places (including Isle of Wight	Arts team		
and Havant as well as Rushmoor, New Forest and Gosport) and making			
learnings available to broader sector partners.			

Activity (Phase 1)	ACE Let's Create	Rushmoor 2030	Outcomes
Creation of supported incubator/workspaces for creative practitioners and small creative industries in spaces such as Union Yard, the Digital Hub and Farnborough Civic Quarter. These spaces could also be creative industries employment hubs for young people. Regular programming of small and medium-scale performances in both town centres and the gradual development of larger scale artistically ambitious programming for new/interesting sites on a less frequent basis. Consider how design can help to ensure that culture is reflected in the regeneration of the towns such as how we use lighting in the town centres to enhance the experience and encourage the safe and sustainable use of town centres.	Outcome: Creative Places Investment Principles: Ambition & Quality Dynamism Environmental Responsibility Inclusivity & Relevance	Vibrant and distinctive town centres A growing local economy – kind to the environment	<ul> <li>Building demand and local supply chain as part of regeneration of Aldershot town centre and development of Farnborough civic centre offer</li> <li>Arts Festival 2023 onward (Audience development)</li> </ul>
Action	Who	When	Funding
PROJECT 2.1			

## PRIORITY 2 - Ensure that culture plays an important role in the regeneration of Aldershot and Farnborough town centres.

Develop temporary artwork on the regeneration hoardings in Farnborough and Aldershot.	RBC	Ongoing	
<b>PROJECT 2.2 (cross cutting)</b> Promote (unusual) spaces and other venues to event producers, artists etc, stimulating arts activity at every scale Attract large-scale, high profile event promotors to use green space within the borough, capitalising on existing event infrastructure such as Farnborough International Exhibition and Conference Centre.	RBC Arts team	Late 2022	
<b>PROJECT 2.3</b> Develop a public art project at the Maker's Yard, Aldershot.	RBC Arts team	2024	
<b>PROGRAMMING</b> Continue to programme a Council-led comprehensive outdoor events programme and arts projects in Aldershot and Farnborough town centres to boost footfall and community engagement.	RBC	Ongoing	Funded by RBC to Mar 2023
<b>PROGRAMMING</b> Develop existing Council-led town centre events and arts programme, actively engaging local communities and artists. Research potential to commission an experiences artist / organisation to deliver new activity alongside RBC's existing programming.	RBC	2023	
<b>PROGRAMMING</b> Assess potential for combined arts delivery between town centres, Princes Hall and West End Centre, particularly outdoor programmes.	RBC HCT (core activity) Princes Hall	Mid-2022	

Explore potential to cross-programme cultural activity with other boroughs (including priority places) and within HCT.			
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Ensure existing and potential cultural spaces and venues are fit for purpose, attracting audiences in the medium and long-term (indoor, outdoor).	RBC HCT (lead for Aldershot Military Museum, West End Centre and others, if commissioned) FAST Libraries	Ongoing discussion	HCT (via core income and HCT's RBC grant)
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Create fit-for-purpose (creation, rehearsal, office) space within Princes Hall theatre (or alternative location) for use by partner arts organisations such as Nutkhut, Artswork, Stopgap.	RBC	Ongoing discussion	
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Develop publicly available indoor performance venue(s) in Farnborough and commission programme. Assess viability of developing new Civic Quarter space in partnership with Library and HCC. HCT is feeding into discussions and is a potential operating partner.	RBC HCC HCT (if commissioned)	Ongoing discussion	
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Provision for semi-permanent public art space in in Aldershot.	RBC	Ongoing discussion Launch Aldershot 2024	

<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Provision for permanent public art in the Civic Quarter and Farnborough town centre, potentially reflecting Farnborough's unique aviation heritage.	RBC	Ongoing discussion	
<ul> <li>RELATIONSHIPS</li> <li>Work with UCA (digital, creative and making courses) to research potential for:</li> <li>Graduate self-employment support / workspace in the Maker's Yard container village from 2024</li> <li>Creation and showcase space for students within the Makers' Yard container village (incl. students on industry year) from 2024.</li> </ul>	RBC UCA	Ongoing discussion Deliver 2024	
<b>RELATIONSHIPS (cross cutting)</b> Capitalise on and promote Rushmoor's venues and broader assets to attract film production companies.	RBC Arts Team	Late 2022	

Activity (Phase 1)	ACE Let's Create	Rushmoor 2030	Outcomes
Using the past to map the future - public art project around Rushmoor's unparalleled combination of aviation and military <i>legacy</i> (and heritage). Celebrate current and future innovation in STEAM sector.	Outcome: Cultural Communities Investment Principle: Ambition & Quality Inclusivity and relevance	Strong communities, proud of our area	<ul> <li>Development of National Centre for Aviation Heritage bid (AMION)</li> <li>Developing local history as part of role of Aldershot and proposed new library in Farnborough as culture-led community hubs (Audience development)</li> </ul>
Action	Who	When	Funding
PROJECT 3.1 Deliver Farnborough heritage trails (with AR technology)	RBC FAST	Deliver mid-2022	
PROJECT 3.2	RBC	Ongoing discussion	

## PRIORITY 3 - Build on Rushmoor's rich aviation and military heritage to both increase community pride and the visitor economy.

Support MODCAF Q121 project 2022, promoting heritage assets and supporting artists.	ACE	Deliver late 2022	
<b>PROJECT 3.3</b> Develop one-day family STEAM festival in Farnborough town centre, showcasing fun, hands-on steam activities.	RBC	Launch 2023	
<b>PROJECT 3.4</b> Support Aldershot Military Museum and the Royal Army Physical Training Corps museums to launch new joint learning programmes for schools.	HCT (core activity) RAPTC	Late 2022	
<ul> <li>PROJECT 3.5 (cross cutting)</li> <li>Lay groundwork for Arts Festival in 2023. Secure funding and organiser.</li> <li>Deliver borough-wide Arts Festival (every 2 years).</li> <li>HCT CDM (from 2022) and part time creative producer role from 2023 will lead on development (and delivery and the commissioning of artworks if commissioned).</li> </ul>	HCT RBC Arts team	Launch late 2022 Deliver late 2023	HCT NPO Other
PROJECT 3.6 (cross cutting) Promote Farnborough's aviation assets and (unusual) spaces such as the wind tunnels and centrifuge to event producers, artists etc, stimulating arts activity at every scale. Continue to promote these assets to film production companies.	RBC Arts team	Late 2022	
INFRASTRUCTURE	FAST	Late 2022	

Support museums / assets to build local and regional audiences through short / medium term intervention.	RAPTC HCT (core activity) RBC Arts Team	
INFRASTRUCTURE		
Long-term development of a national aerospace heritage centre.	RBC HCT (as operating partner if commissioned)	Ongoing discussion
<b>RELATIONSHIPS (cross cutting)</b> Develop relationships and attract partner organisations to deliver projects (ACE, NPOs, private sector, community) which link with the borough's rich aviation and military heritage.	HCT RBC Arts team	Ongoing

# PRIORITY 4 - Work with artists and the Createch sector to establish Rushmoor as a centre for innovation and excellence in creative media.

Activity (Phase 1)	ACE Let's Create	Rushmoor 2030	Outcomes	
Projects, competitions, annual showcase and rolling investment fund for creative innovation, with LEP and industry partners	Outcome: A Creative & Cultural Country Investment principles: Ambition & Quality Dynamism	Opportunities for everyone – quality education and a skilled local workforce A growing local economy – kind to the environment	<ul> <li>specialist business collocated within EM3 support for b hub)</li> <li>Building demand businesses and inv Union Yard</li> <li>Studio space – pile development)</li> </ul>	vestors for property in ot (talent osal for larger creative
Action		Who	When	Funding
<ul> <li>PROJECT 4.1(cross cutting)</li> <li>Develop creative producer and mentoring progracommunity projects and arts festival.</li> <li>HCT will: <ul> <li>Employ a part time creative producer</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	amme, leading to new	HCT Arts team	Launch late 2022	HCT NPO Other funding bids

<ul> <li>Include producer training in our creative practitioner training programme</li> <li>Lead on creative producer programme (if commissioned)</li> </ul>			
<b>PROJECT 4.2</b> Develop one-day family STEAM festival in Farnborough town centre, showcasing fun, hands-on steam activities.	RBC	Launch 2023	
PROJECT 4.3 Competition for creative innovation.	LEP RBC HE Createch Sector		
PROJECT 4.4 Annual showcase of creative innovation.	LEP RBC HE Createch Sector		
<b>PROJECT 4.5</b> Work with Farnborough International Exhibition and Conference Centre to promote the venue as a potential centre for e-sports tournaments / gaming events.	FIL LEP		
INFRASTRUCTURE			

Research the potential of creating an e-sports arena within the borough.	FIL LEP		
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Launch the Digital Hub at the Old Town Hall in Aldershot as an office space for creative professionals and businesses in creative and digital media technologies.	LEP RBC HE	2022	
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Launch business support / start-up support at Digital Hub (town hall)	RBC LEP	2022-24	
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Provide suitable (subsidised) studio / creation / performance space within the borough with initial focus on Aldershot.	RBC HCT		RBC HCT (core + RBC grant)
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Ensure planning policies reflect the need for suitable spaces for high- spec gaming companies and creative professionals.	RBC		
<b>INFRASTRUCTURE</b> Develop proposals for design of Makers Yard container space as a creation / studio / makers sale area. <i>(*See above action in Priority 1 with UCA)</i>	RBC Creative sector		

RELATIONSHIPS		
Research potential partnerships and build relationships with	LEP	
universities / technology sector / LEP to promote sector growth, build	RBC	
career pathways and ensure training is fit for purpose	HE	
	nDreams	
INVESTMENT		
Rolling investment fund for creative innovation	LEP	
	RBC	
	HE	
	Createch Sector	

Activity (Phase 1)	ACE Let's Create	Rushmoor 2030	Outcomes	
<ul> <li>Digital creative skills (talent development) project/competition(s), engaging schools, colleges and industry in supporting young people to create short form content to be used in marketing, social media and branding for 'behaviour change' around:</li> <li>Health &amp; wellbeing</li> <li>Environmental responsibility</li> </ul>	Outcome: A Creative & Cultural Country Investment principles: Ambition & Quality Dynamism Environmental Responsibility Inclusivity & Relevance	Opportunities for everyone – quality education and a skilled local workforce healthy and green lifestyles	<ul> <li>Engage comm health and en organisations</li> <li>Increase diver digital workfe</li> <li>Promote busi</li> <li>Inward invest</li> </ul>	rsity of creative and orce ness start up tment from (larger) oking to access local
Action		Who	When	Funding
<b>PROJECT 5.1</b> Support existing TV training academy for young people / adults.		RBC	Ongoing	
PROJECT 5.2 Research potential new projects i.e. Your DNA (Digital News Agency), PC Gaming Club and Pop-up Digital Agency		RBC	Ongoing	

## PRIORITY 5 - Give more young people in Rushmoor the opportunity of developing a sustainable career in the Creative Industries.

<b>PROJECT 5.3</b> Develop new HE and school projects to showcase relevant creative courses and student talent. Work with Hampshire Skills and Participation service to develop and fund suitable apprenticeships.	Arts team HE RBC HCC	Late 2022	
<b>PROJECT 5.4</b> Support and promote HCT Grassroots Music Project at West End Centre.	HCT - lead	Ongoing	HCT (Year 1 - core + ACE grant, core + other funding)
<b>PROJECT 5.5</b> Support Hampshire Music Education Hub to deliver activity with libraries (young people and primary age, focussed on areas of deprivation).	Libraries Hants Music Service	Ongoing discussion	
<b>RELATIONSHIPS</b> Continue to support FE creative student projects, events and work experience opportunities.Develop new opportunities within partnership organisations	RBC All partners	Ongoing	

## PRIORITY 6 - Cross-cutting actions to drive and deliver Rushmoor Cultural Strategy and Action Plan

Activity (Phase 1)	Action	Who	When	Funding
Establish new arts team, the Cultural Compact and key partnerships	Establish new arts and culture team resource	HCT – lead RBC ACE	Ongoing	HCT ACE grant year 1 HCT NPO years 2-4
Establish workplans	Build and develop Cultural Compact Board	HCT – lead RBC ACE	Ongoing	HCT ACE grant year 1 HCT NPO years 2-4
	Establish core group of arts and other organisations to support delivery of strategy and action plan	HCT – lead RBC ACE	Ongoing	HCT ACE grant year 1 HCT NPO years 2-4
Promotion of activities within the borough	Research methods for wide-scale promotion of cultural activities within the borough. This could include filming and venue hire, alongside promotion of tourist attractions, events and arts activities (and potentially green spaces).	Arts team RBC HCT Key partners		ACE grant year 1 HCT NPO years 2-4
Identify and secure new income streams to deliver priorities	Identify and apply for funding to deliver action plan Research and pursue potential commercial income streams to sustain activity	Arts team HCT RBC		ACE grant year 1 HCT NPO years 2-4



24 Sandown Lane | Liverpool | L15 8HY

www.thefifthsector.co.uk

0151 203 3004